
 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 
ALLISON JOHNSON, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 

Case No. 05 2019 CA 057725 
 
 

vs. 
 

 

STRATEGIC FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company; F. SOLUTIONS, 
LLC , a New York limited liability company; 
STRATEGIC CLIENT SUPPORT, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company; SUMMIT CLIENT 
SERVICES, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company; RYAN  SASSON, a New York resident; 
KIMBERLY CELIC, a New York resident; 
LAUREN MONTANILE, a New Jersey resident;  
WYOLAW, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability 
company; JASON BLUST, an Illinois resident; 
GUILLERMO GEISSE, a California resident; 
TIMOTHY BURNETTE, an Illinois resident; 
BRANT HODYNO, an Arizona resident and Florida 
attorney; SARAH FLORES, a Florida resident and 
attorney; SUNSHINE SIGNING CONNECTION, 
INC, a Florida corporation; JAMES GLEASON, a 
New York resident; and INEZ WILLIAMS, a Florida 
resident, 
 
 Defendants. 
_____________________________________/ 

 

 

 

 
AMENDED COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS ......................................................................................................... 4 

A. Summary of the Case .................................................................................................... 4 

B. Parties ............................................................................................................................ 4 

C. Jurisdiction and Venue ................................................................................................ 10 

D. Introduction – laying the trap ...................................................................................... 11 

1. Whack-a-mole ......................................................................................................... 13 



 

2 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

2. The Facade Firms .................................................................................................... 14 

3. The attorney network scheme posing as multiple firms. ......................................... 18 

E. Springing the trap ........................................................................................................ 20 

F. The wrongful acts and misrepresentations of the Defendants. ................................... 23 

1. The SFS Defendants ................................................................................................ 23 

2. The Facade Firm Defendants .................................................................................. 26 

3. Montanile ................................................................................................................ 27 

4. Jimmy Gleason ........................................................................................................ 28 

5. Jason Blust, Guillermo Geisse, and Timothy Burnette ........................................... 28 

6. Brant Hodyno and Sarah Flores .............................................................................. 28 

7. The Notary Services Defendant .............................................................................. 29 

8. The Notary Defendant ............................................................................................. 30 

G. Damages ...................................................................................................................... 31 

H. Conspiracy, RICO, and Criminal Practices Allegations ............................................. 32 

COUNT I: FRAUD, DECEIT AND INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION .......... 39 

COUNT II: CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FRAUD ......................................................... 40 

COUNT III: CIVIL RIGHT OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE RACKETEER 
INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT (“RICO”) 18 
U.S.C. § 1962(c) and (d) ................................................................................. 41 

COUNT IV: CIVIL REMEDY FOR CRIMINAL PRACTICES STATUTE ..................... 42 

COUNT V: EXPRESS PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF 
FLORIDA’S DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT 
(FDUTPA) ...................................................................................................... 42 

COUNT VI: EXPRESS PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF 
CREDIT COUNSELING SERVICES STATUTE ......................................... 43 

COUNT VII: PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF 
LAW ............................................................................................................... 45 

COUNT VIII: LEGAL MALPRACTICE IN TORT.............................................................. 47 



 

3 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

COUNT IX: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY ............................................................... 49 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL .................................................................................................... 50 

 

  



 

4 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Summary of the Case 

1. This is a case of fraud, conspiracy to commit fraud, violation of the Racketeer 

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, violation of Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade 

Practices Act, violation of Florida Credit Counseling Services statute, unlicensed practice of law, 

legal malpractice, and breach of fiduciary duty in which the Plaintiff seeks damages and attorneys’ 

fees. 

2. This case involves a debt settlement scheme involving numerous entities that 

conspire to defraud Florida consumers. 

3. The enterprise further defrauds consumers by posing as lawyers and law firms and 

by enlisting real lawyers and law firms to provide their names for the scheme even though they do 

not—and generally, cannot—perform legal services themselves in Florida where the consumers 

reside. 

4. The Defendants adopted a business structure that fraudulently mimics the “attorney 

model” of debt settlement—a controversial structure in its own right—in order to evade the 

licensing and fee-limitation requirements for non-attorney settlement companies in various states 

and to project an aura of trustworthiness to lure unsuspecting consumers. 

B. Parties 

The Plaintiff 

5. The Plaintiff, Allison Johnson, is a Florida resident and domiciliary.   
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The Defendants 

6. The SFS Defendants are conducting the business practices described below through 

an interrelated network of companies that have common officers, managers, business functions, 

employees, and office locations, and that have commingled funds.  

a) SFS Defendant Strategic Financial Solutions, LLC (“SFS”), is a Nevada 

limited liability company whose managing member is eVestment, Inc., owned 

by Nasdaq, Inc.  SFS does business throughout the United States, including the 

state of Florida.  It is the parent, affiliate, or alter ego of the SFS Defendants. 

b) SFS Defendant, F. Solutions, LLC (“FS”), a New York limited liability 

company, (formerly named Elimadebt, LLC operating under the unregistered 

fictitious name of Finance Solutions, LLC).   FS does business throughout 

the United States, including the state of Florida.  FS shares principals and an 

office address with SFS and is operated together with SFS as one company.  

c) SFS Defendant, Strategic Client Support, LLC (“SCS”), is a Delaware 

limited liability company f/k/a Pioneer Client Services LLC f/k/a Fusion 

Processing, LLC f/k/a Fusion Client Services f/k/a Strategic Client Services 

that does business throughout the United States, including the state of Florida. 

SCS shares principals and an office address with SFS and is operated together 

with SFS as one company. 

d) SFS Defendant, Summit Client Services, LLC (“SCS”), is a Delaware 

limited liability company that does business throughout the United States, 

including the state of Florida.  SCS shares principals and an office address with 
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SFS and is operated together with SFS as one company.  Wyolaw, LLC 

previously used the trade name, Summit Law Firm, LLC. 

e) SFS Defendant, Ryan Sasson (“Sasson”), is or has been a de facto or de jure 

owner, officer, principal, manager, director, member, organizer, authorized 

representative, of SFS and the SFS Defendants. At all times material to this 

Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, 

controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices 

set forth in this Complaint. Sasson resides in New York and through the SFS 

Defendants, conducts business throughout the United States, including the 

state of Florida. 

f) SFS Defendant, Kimberly Celic (“Celic”), is a New York resident who, as an 

employee, part owner, and Chief People Officer of the SFS Defendants, 

facilitates Wyolaw’s appearance of a law firm by falsely holding herself out as 

a bona fide Human Resource director of the Facade Firms. Through the Facade 

Firms and the SFS Defendants, Celic conducts business throughout the United 

States, including the state of Florida. 

g) SFS Defendant, Lauren Montanile (“Montanile”), is a New York and New 

Jersey attorney and resident who, as an employee and part owner of the SFS 

Defendants, facilitates Wyolaw’s appearance of a law firm by falsely holding 

herself out as a bona fide attorney and member of, Wyolaw and other Facade 

Firms. Through the Facade Firms and the SFS Defendants, Montanile conducts 

business throughout the United States, including the state of Florida. 
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h) SFS Defendant, James (“Jimmy”) Gleason (“Jimmy Gleason” or 

“Gleason”), is a New York resident who held himself out as a “Law Firm 

Contact” for various Facade Firms including Wyolaw and conducts 

telemarketing activities throughout the United States, including the state of 

Florida. 

7. The Facade Firm Defendants are conducting the business practices described below 

through an interrelated network of Facade Firms that have common officers, managers, business 

functions, employees, or office locations, and that have commingled funds. 

a) Facade Firm Defendant, Wyolaw, LLC (“Wyolaw” or “Facade Entity” or 

“Shell Entity”), is a Wyoming registered entity that the Defendants hold out 

to be a bona fide law firm in the business of representing clients for both debt 

relief and in-court legal litigation.  Wyolaw operates throughout the United 

States, including the state of Florida. 

b) Facade Firm Defendant, Jason Blust (“Blust”), is an Illinois attorney and is, 

or has been, a de facto or de jure owner, officer, principal, manager, director, 

member, organizer, authorized representative, of the Facade Firms and 

Wyolaw.  At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert 

with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to 

control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

Blust resides in Illinois and through the Facade Firms, conducts business 

throughout the United States, including the state of Florida. 

c) Facade Firm Defendant, Guillermo Geisse (“Geisse”), is an Illinois (inactive) 

and California attorney and is, or has been, a de facto or de jure owner, officer, 



 

8 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

principal, manager, director, member, organizer, authorized representative, of 

the Facade Firms and Wyolaw. At all times material to this Complaint, acting 

alone or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the 

authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this 

Complaint. Geisse resides in California and through the Facade Firms, 

conducts business throughout the United States, including the state of Florida. 

d) Facade Firm Defendant, Timothy Burnette (“Burnette”), is an Illinois 

attorney and is, or has been, a de facto or de jure owner, officer, principal, 

manager, director, member, organizer, authorized representative, of the Facade 

Firms and Wyolaw. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in 

concert with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority 

to control, or participated in the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. 

Burnette resides in Illinois and through the Facade Firms, conducts business 

throughout the United States, including the state of Florida. 

e) Facade Firm Defendant, Brant Hodyno (“Hodyno”), is a Florida and Arizona 

attorney and Arizona resident who facilitates Wyolaw’s appearance of a law 

firm by falsely holding himself out as a bona fide member of, Wyolaw and 

other Facade Firms. Through the Facade Firms, Hodyno conducts business 

throughout the United States, including the state of Florida. 

f) Facade Firm Defendant, Sarah Flores (“Flores”), is a Florida attorney and 

resident who facilitates Wyolaw’s appearance of a law firm by falsely holding 

herself out as a bona fide attorney with, and member of, Wyolaw and other 

Facade Firms. 
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 Notary Services Defendant, Defendant, Sunshine Signing Connection Inc. 

(“Sunshine”), is a Florida corporation that does business throughout the United States, including 

the state of Florida. 

9. Notary Defendant, Inez Williams (“Williams”), is a Florida resident and mobile 

notary who facilitates Wyolaw’s appearance as a law firm by falsely holding herself out as a bona 

fide paralegal or representative of Wyolaw who conducted and was capable of conducting a 

consultation with Plaintiff. 

10. All Defendants, including their leadership, membership, and associates, constitute 

an association-in-fact (the “SFS Enterprise”). 
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C. Jurisdiction and Venue 

11. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction as a court of general jurisdiction of 

controversies exceeding the sum of $30,000. § 26.012, Fla. Stat.; §34.01 Fla. Stat. 

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants under § 48.193, Fla. Stat. 

because they: 1) committed tortious acts within the state and causing injury to property within the 

state while engaged in service activities; and 2) operated, conducted or engaged in, or carried on a 

business in this state. 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal RICO claims. Tafflin v. Levitt, 493 U.S. 

455 (1990). 

14. Venue is proper in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, as Brevard County is the county 

of residence of the Plaintiff and Defendant, Inez Williams, and, except for Defendant Sarah Flores, 

and Sunshine, none of the defendants are residents of Florida.  



 

11 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

D. Introduction – laying the trap 

15. The SFS Defendants have built a business model designed to make it appear that it 

is merely a vendor performing debt negotiation services for various “law firms”—the Facade Firm 

Defendants.   

16. In reality, however, it is the SFS Defendants that lure consumers by arranging 

referrals from marketing companies whose aggressively disseminated bait-and-switch advertising 

falsely promises guaranteed loans.   

17. Using high-pressure, rehearsed sales tactics over the phone, salesmen employed by 

the SFS Defendants in New York, who are not attorneys, convince consumers to sign up for its 

illusory services, often by giving legal advice about other options such as bankruptcy.   

18. Once a consumer is ensnared, the SFS Defendants arrange for them to execute a 

contract through one of its portfolio of shell law firms (the “Facade Firms” or “shell firms”) set up 

by a shadowy group of Chicago lawyers associated with a prior similar operation—Legal Helpers 

Debt Resolution, LLC (“Legal Helpers”)—that was discredited and shut down by government 

authorities.   

19. The salesperson employed by the SFS Defendants chooses a firm based on the state 

where the consumer lives. 

20. The salesperson arranges for a meeting with a mobile notary posing as a paralegal, 

or even a lawyer, of the shell firm for the “face-to-face meeting” required by the exception to the 

federal regulations which the SFS Enterprise seeks to exploit.   

21. The SFS Defendants draft the purported legal services contract inserting the name 

of the chosen Facade Firm into the contract: 
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22. The SFS Defendants insert the name of the salesman as the “Law Firm Contact.”   

23. The phone number for the Facade Firm on the contract and on the Facade Firm 

website actually rings in the New York offices of the SFS Defendants and is answered by the SFS 

Defendants’ non-lawyer staff who identify themselves in a way that leads consumers to believe 

they are talking to a Facade Firm employee. 

24. Mail sent to the shell law firm address on the legal services contract or website goes 

to a maildrop at a virtual space, usually maintained by Regus, PLC.  The mail is overnighted to 
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Excela Technologies in New York, scanned, and uploaded into the SFS Defendants’ computer 

system.  

25. The SFS Defendants’ program consists of telling the consumer to stop paying her 

creditors (to give “the law firm more leverage when negotiating”), and instead, pay them exorbitant 

up-front fees.  

26. If one of these creditors brings suit against an “SFS client,” the SFS Defendants 

will decide when and if an “in-state” attorney is assigned to defend the case. 

27. Whether or not an “in-state” attorney is assigned, the SFS Defendants’ staff will 

sometimes attempt to negotiate a consent judgment with the creditor’s counsel  and even instruct 

“clients” what to do and say in court. 

28. The SFS Defendant’s purpose in masquerading as a law firm is to evade various 

federal and state laws intended to curb deceptive and abusive practices of debt settlement 

companies, including the Telemarking Sales Rule “TSR”1 and to project the aura of 

trustworthiness with a profession that is supervised by the courts and bar organizations 

1. Whack-a-mole 

29. The now infamous Legal Helpers Debt Resolution, LLC (“Legal Helpers”) was 

founded by attorneys at the Chicago firm of Macey, Aleman, Hyslip and Searns.  It declared 

bankruptcy after being sued by the Attorneys General of Illinois, Wisconsin, and North Carolina—

and after attorneys Macey and Aleman were suspended from the practice of law.  

 
1 16 CFR Part 310 regulates telemarketing defined “a plan, program, or campaign . . . to induce 
the purchase of …services” involving more than one interstate telephone call and was promulgated 
by the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) to implement the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud 
and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. 6101-6108. 
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30. In those suits and bar grievances (as well as at least one class action),  the attorneys 

were accused of a fraudulent objective similar to that alleged here—that they “established Legal 

Helpers for the purpose of partnering with non-lawyer companies in the consumer debt settlement 

industry in order to take advantage of certain exemptions that new regulations governing the debt 

settlement industry allowed for attorneys.” 

31. Despite this regulatory action to end Legal Helpers’ practices, the same players 

involved in the original scheme have re-created a nearly identical scheme that is the subject of this 

lawsuit.  

32. For example, SFS Chief Executive Officer, Ryan Sasson, was the Supervisor and 

Manager of Legal Helpers in 2012 and president LHDR Help, LLC in 2012. 

33. Facade Firm Defendants Blust and Geisse—as well as others connected to the 

Facade Firms—were partners or attorneys of Legal Helpers. 

34. The specific elements of Legal Helpers’ business structure, the methods, and even 

the nomenclature (such as “Welcome Packet” and “Class B” partner) to accomplish what at least 

one court found to be fraudulent misrepresentation and a violation of 11 U.S.C. § 526 is nearly 

identical to that alleged here as still being used by the Defendants today. 

2. The Facade Firms 

35. The SFS Defendants, together with the Facade Firm Defendants, create and 

maintain a collection of entities being held out as law firms, which SFS Defendants calls their 

brand “portfolio” or “programs.”   

36. The key difference between the current SFS Enterprise scheme and the Legal 

Helpers scheme is that the attorney network here is composed of a confusing and overlapping array 

of Facade Firms created for one or more of the following purposes: 1) obfuscating the identities 
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of persons formerly involved in the Legal Helpers scheme and the conspiracy between them; 

2) falsely creating additional “shelf space” for its internet advertising through the fiction of 

different law firm brands for a single enterprise; 3) creating the illusion of choice for consumers; 

and 4) “churning” the entities such that those with poor ratings and high customer complaints can 

be discarded for another entity that has not yet amassed negative reviews. 

37. Aside from Wyolaw, the Facade Firms created by the Facade Firm Defendants 

include, but may not be limited to: Anchor Law Firm, PLLC (“Anchor”); Bedrock Legal 

("Bedrock"); Boulder Legal Group, LLC (“Boulder”), Canyon Legal Group, LLC (“Canyon); 

Carolina Legal Services (“Carolina”); Chinn Legal Group, LLC (“Chinn”); Colonial Law Group, 

LLC (“Colonial”); The Commonwealth Law Group, PLLC (“Commonwealth”); Cornerstone 

Legal Group, LLC (“Cornerstone”); Credit Advocates Law Firm, LLC (“Credit”); Dubin Legal 

Group, LLC (“Dubin”); Frontier Consumer Law Group, LLC (“Frontier”); Gardner Legal, LLC 

(“Gardner”); Glacier Bay Law (“Glacier”); Great Lakes Law Firm, LLC (“Great Lakes”); Harbor 

Legal Group, LLC (“Harbor”); Heartland Legal Group, LLC (“Heartland”); Henry Legal Group, 

LLP (“Henry); Hinds Law, LLC (“Hinds”); Monarch Legal Group ("Monarch"); Phoenix Legal 

Group, LLC (“Phoenix”); Pioneer Law Firm, P.C. (“Pioneer”); Rockwell Legal Group 

(“Rockwell”); Royal Legal Group, LLC (“Royal”); Stonepoint Legal Group (“Stonepoint”); The 

Sands Law Group, LLC (“Sands”); and Whitestone Legal Group (“Whitestone”).  

38. Facade Firm Defendant, Jason Blust, operating out of a co-working space at 211 

W. Wacker Dr., Ste. 300 Chicago, IL 60606, is the President, Secretary, Treasurer, and Director 

of Pioneer, a 98 percent owner of Cornerstone, a managing member of Credit, a member of 

Boulder, and the Law Offices of Jason Blust, LLC was or is the employer of Michelle Hinds, the 

manager of Hinds (operating out of the same address).  He was involved in the creation of Royal 
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which violated a permanent injunction prohibiting him and Pioneer from providing debt-resolution 

services in Kansas. 

39. Facade Firm Defendant Guillermo Geisse is the majority and controlling member 

of Wyolaw. 

40. Facade Firm Defendant, Timothy Burnette, operating out the same Chicago address 

as Blust, is the principal of Burnette Legal Group, LLC, d/b/a Monarch Legal Group, where phone 

calls from mail drop facilities for Wyolaw are directed.  He is also a “partner” of a Facade Firm 

and an agent, contact person or authorized signer listed in the foreign registrations for most of 

these Facade Firms. 

41. Some of the websites for the Facade Firms provide redacted settlement letters as 

proof of their success.  The settlement letters bear a striking resemblance: 

 

42. At least two settlement letters touted as Wyolaw successes on Wyolaw’s website 

are also listed on Canyon’s website as Canyon successes.  

43. Buried in the fine print of its terms and conditions, Wyolaw actually admits that: 

“Within this Site, Wyo Law Firm [sic] may include descriptions of successful outcomes of 

WYOLAW SETTLEMENT 
 LETTER 

CAROLINA SETTLEMENT 

LETTER 
ROYAL SETTLEMENT  

LETTER 
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litigation or lawsuits handled by Wyo Law Firm, or other attorneys not affiliated with Wyo Law 

Firm or the Site.” (emphasis added). 

44. Similarly, many letters claimed by other Facade Firms as evidence of their 

individual success are actually letters sent to different Facade Firms.   

45. Nearly all have phone numbers on their websites that connect directly to the same 

SFS call center where employees answer by identifying themselves as being employees of the law 

firm being dialed. 

46. In its marketing and public relations statements, SFS refers to Facade Firm clients, 

as their own and touts the number of clients and the dollar value of debt settled its own 

achievements rather than that of the Facade Firms. 

47. Similarly, the individual Facade Firms also take credit for the same number of 

clients and dollar value of debt settled as SFS. 

48. Similarly, Timberline Financial, LLC—of which SFS Defendant, Ryan Sasson, is 

the CEO, has settlement letters that are virtually identical to those of the Facade Firms: 

 

49. Timberline letters are included as the achievements on Facade Firm websites. 

WYOLAW SETTLEMENT 
 LETTER 

TIMBERLINE SETTLEMENT 

LETTER 
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3. The attorney network scheme posing as multiple firms. 

50. Despite the use of approximately thirty different Facade Firm names, the SFS 

Enterprise uses a single network of the same attorneys.  The network is managed by the Chicago 

attorneys which the SFS Enterprise falsely portrays as approximately thirty different firms.     

51. Typically, each  Facade Firm consists of a Majority Member (who was formerly 

associated with Legal Helpers), a Minority Member (who registers the entity in his or her state), a 

group of “In-State attorneys,” (one or more in each state which the Facade Firm network actively 

enroll consumers), and “SFS attorneys” (who work at the New York offices of the SFS 

Defendants). 

52. The Chicago attorneys recruit the Minority Members and the In-State attorneys, 

through advertisements (such as posting on Craigslist) and the SFS attorneys directly from the 

group of attorneys already employed by the SFS Defendants.  The In-State attorneys and SFS 

attorneys are referred to as “Class B” members.” 

53. Here, the Majority Member is Guillermo Geisse, the Minority Member was 

formerly Tracy Mears (a now disbarred attorney), the In-State in attorneys in Florida are Sarah 

Flores and Brant Hodyno (and possibly others), and the SFS attorney is Lauren Montanile. 

54. Although the In-State attorneys serve as the Facade Firms’ purported licensed 

attorney in that state, they do not oversee or manage any pre-litigation negotiations or other legal 

work for any clients in their state. 

55. The “In-State attorneys” do not know the identity of the Facade Firm clients unless 

and until they are called on to appear in court or to perform tasks to further the false appearance 

of legitimacy and are not permitted to assist clients of the Facade Firm unless the case is assigned 

or referred to them by the SFS Defendants. 
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56. The SFS Defendants recruit and employ Facade Firm staff in the guise of the 

Facade Firms.   

57. For example, SFS Defendant Kimberly Celic, currently Senior Vice President of 

SFS, was the Director of Human Resources (of related company, Strategic CS, LLC) in 2014: 

 

58. During that time, Ms. Celic hired an employee for Pioneer, using Pioneer 

letterhead: 
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E. Springing the trap 

The sham face-to-face meeting 

59. On or around January 17, 2019, a Financial Consultant employed by the SFS 

Defendants induced the Plaintiff to enroll in a debt settlement program and recommended its 

“partner,” Wyolaw, as the law firm through which the program would run. 

60. The Financial Consultant was James (“Jimmy”) Gleason: 

 

61. Gleason passed the telephone call to another SFS Defendants employee who 

recorded a compliance call in which the employee, using a script, held themselves out as being 

“with Wyolaw” and told the Plaintiff that the call was in preparation for an attorney meeting and 

that someone would be coming to their home for a “consultation.” 

62. The SFS Defendants set up the face-to-face meeting through Sunshine and prepared 

the Wyolaw legal services contract inserting “Wyolaw” in the fields for the Facade Firm and 

Jimmy Gleason’s name as the “Law Firm Contact”: 
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63. On January 17, 2019, a mobile notary, Inez Williams, (as directed by Sunshine) 

came to Plaintiff’s home with the contract and made a presentation which included a “Face to Face 

Script” and a “Face to Face Power Point Presentation” (or “In-Person Presentation”). 

64. The Script and Presentation purposefully omit the provisions regarding arbitration 

and the class action waiver. 

65. The mobile notary, Inez Willams, also signed an unsworn “Affidavit of 

Compliance” in which she stated that she was a representative of Wyolaw, and that she conducted 

a face-to-face meeting and presented all relevant information regarding Summit’s representation 

of the Plaintiff: 

 

66. Williams represented that she verified “compliance with any and all applicable 

local. state or federal laws or regulations (collectively the ‘Applicable Laws’). including. but not 

limited. to the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act.” 

 Williams represented that “The Client has been advised that the attorney or 

paralegal who conducted the initial meeting with Client limits their scope of representation or 

presentation to that initial meeting and review or the Client’s file.” (emphasis added). 

 Plaintiff signed the purported contract believing that the mobile notary was a 

paralegal or attorney of the law firm. 

 As is typical for Facade Firms, no one sent the Plaintiff a copy of the contract 

executed by anyone at Wyolaw (Summit): 
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 Because the Plaintiff never received a copy executed by Wyolaw, a condition 

precedent to the formation of the contract was never triggered: 

 

 Plaintiff agreed to the contract with the Facade Firm specifically because she 

thought she was hiring a bona fide law firm. 

 The notary has no direct relationship with the Facade Firm and Inez Williams 

disclaims that she is or was a representative of Anchor. 

Creditor Lawsuit 

73. On August 2, 2019, the Plaintiff was sued by Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., one of the 

creditors in the SFS Defendants’ program.2 

74. Although the Plaintiff promptly notified the Defendants of the suit, no attorney 

appeared in the case. 

 
2 Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Allison G. Johnson, Case No. 052019CC040421XXXXXX (Brevard 
County). 
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F. The wrongful acts and misrepresentations of the Defendants. 

1. The SFS Defendants 

75. The SFS Defendants (together with the Facade Firm Defendants) created and 

manage a syndicate of referral attorneys which they market as approximately thirty different law 

firms for the purpose of evading federal and state laws and fraudulent inducing consumers to pay 

for a debt settlement program under the guise that it is a legal service. 

76. Recreating the Legal Helpers scheme that was discredited and shut down by state 

Attorneys General and Bar organizations. 

77. The SFS Defendants continued to hold themselves out to consumers, including the 

Plaintiff, as a bona fide law firm or affiliated or associated with a law firm where the law firm is 

merely a network of attorneys participating in the sham. Its acts of misrepresentation include, but 

are not limited to: 

a) Allowing, instructing, and training Jimmy Gleason to engage in scripted bait-

and-switch and high-pressure sales tactics, to misrepresent the features and 

benefits of the debt settlement program and his employer’s relationship to 

Wyolaw, to misrepresent the qualities of Wyolaw, to recommend Wyolaw, to 

withhold information about the legal services contract (such as arbitration 

clauses and class action waivers), to misrepresent that he is associated with 

Wyolaw by placing his name as a “Law Firm Contact,” to evade questions 

about whether bankruptcy was a better alternative. 

b) Constructing the legal services contract in the name of the Facade Firm and 

inserting the name of the SFS Defendant’s employee who closed the agreement 

with the consumer as the “Law Firm Contact.” 
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c) Allowing, instructing and training employees to misrepresent to consumers, 

including the Plaintiff, during a recorded compliance call that the employees 

are “with Wyolaw” and that the consumers, including the Plaintiff will be 

receiving a “consultation” from an attorney or paralegal at a face-to-face 

meeting. 

d) Arranging for the face-to-face meeting with a mobile notary—someone with 

scant knowledge, if any, of the contract or services in the contract—to show or 

read a presentation and witness the signing process when such a face-to-face 

meeting is expressly disapproved by the Federal Trade Commission as a sham. 

e) Misrepresenting in their advertising, marketing and promotional materials, as 

well as in contracts with consumers, that a Wyolaw attorney, licensed in their 

state, will be overseeing the debt settlement process and appearing in any 

litigation filed against the purchasers of its debt settlement services. 

f) Communicating with the enrolled consumers, including the Plaintiff, with 

emails, brochures and letters that contain headers, logos, addresses, domain 

names and other indicia making them appear to be communications from 

Wyolaw. 

g) Having their employees identify themselves on calls as being employees or 

otherwise associated with Wyolaw. 

h) Recording only those calls that are scripted to comply with federal and state 

laws and regulations (not those in which consumers, including the Plaintiff are 

fraudulently induced to act on the misrepresentations). 
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i) Advising consumers, including the Plaintiff, to breach contracts with creditors 

(discontinue paying them) because it “would harm our argument that you are 

unable to pay what is owed and damages our ability to negotiate the best 

resolution on your account.” 

j) Engaging in the unlicensed practice of law by providing legal advice to 

consumers, including the Plaintiff, and negotiating settlements in litigated 

cases without supervision by an attorney or an attorney licensed in the 

Plaintiff’s state.   

k) Having consumers, including the Plaintiff confer upon them the status of 

“attorney-at-law” by way of a Power of Attorney.  

l) Hiring staff for the Facade Firms to work in the New York offices of the SFS 

Defendants and doing so under the guise of the Facade Entity itself. 

m) Permitting misrepresentations in Facade Firm marketing on websites and other 

lead generation communications, including those of the Facade Entity.  Such 

misrepresentations include, but are not limited to: 

i. That Wyolaw practices under the name Law Offices Wyolaw, LLC—a 

name that is neither an entity nor a registered tradename. 

ii. That the settlement letters displayed there are exemplary of Facade Firm 

work when, in fact, they are representative of the work of other entities. 

iii. That Wyolaw’s purported law practice is not primarily or exclusively debt 

settlement. 

n) Misleading consumers, including the Plaintiff, regarding the function of the 

dedicated account. 
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o) Defrauding consumers, including the Plaintiff, out of the protections afforded 

by federal and state laws, including but not limited to the TSR. 

p) The corporate SFS Defendants are liable for the intentional torts and 

negligence of their members and employees. 

2. The Facade Firm Defendants 

78. The Facade Firm Defendants assist the SFS Enterprise by creating, managing and 

maintaining the Facade Firms so that the SFS Defendants may hold themselves out as a law firm 

entitled to the exceptions from certain federal and state laws, including but not limited to the TSR 

and entitled to the trustworthiness and legitimacy of a bona fide law firm. 

79. Permitting the SFS Defendants to engage in the above-listed misrepresentations on 

their behalf. 

80. The Facade Firm Defendants engage in the unlicensed practice of law by assisting 

the SFS Defendants to perform tasks that the law reserves for licensed attorneys. 

81. Failing to comply with rules of professional conduct regarding explaining the legal 

services contract to clients and specifically hiding the arbitration and class action provisions from 

consumers, including the Plaintiff. 

82. Failing to maintain a trust account in the states in which they purportedly practice, 

including a trust account for the Plaintiff in Florida. 

83. Failing to account for costs allegedly paid on behalf of consumers, including the 

Plaintiff. 

84. Paying for “recommendations” from third party lead generation providers. 

85. Impermissibly sharing fees with a non-attorney. 
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86. Improperly advising the Plaintiff to discontinue paying her creditors which: 

1) exposed the Plaintiff to additional fees, debt, lawsuits, and damage to her creditworthiness; and 

2) constituted an interference with contract that diverted money from Plaintiff’s creditors to 

Defendants. 

87. Charging illegal, prohibited or clearly excessive fees and costs in violation of R. 

Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.5. 

88. Setting up a conflict of interest with the client wherein the client’s money set aside 

for settlement of enrolled debt is also used to pay the attorneys’ fees, such that the attorney has the 

incentive to negotiate payouts over time rather than lump sum payments so the attorneys’ fee may 

be collected immediately. 

89. Wyolaw is liable for the intentional torts and negligence of its members and 

“employees.” 

3. Montanile  

(in addition to those listed above for SFS Defendants generally) 

90. By posing as bona fide member or attorney of seventeen Facade Firms, including 

the Facade Entity, Montanile engaged in, and assisted the SFS Enterprise with their subterfuge to 

conceal that the Facade Entity is not a bona fide law firm, that no properly licensed attorneys were 

actually providing legal services, and that SFS Defendants’ staff were practicing law without a 

license. 

91. Knowingly permitting the misrepresentations of the SFS Defendants and Facade 

Firm Defendants listed above to her clients in contravention of her professional responsibilities. 

92. Failing to advise consumers, including the Plaintiff, that they could get the same 

services cheaper through a different Facade Firm. 
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93. Simultaneously working as an in-house attorney for the SFS Defendants and an 

attorney for seventeen Facade Firms, all of which use the services of the SFS Defendants. 

4. Jimmy Gleason  

(in addition to those listed above for Facade Firm Defendants) 

94. As the SFS Defendant who fraudulently induced the Plaintiff to pay fees to a non-

lawyer entity, Jimmy Gleason knowingly assisted the SFS Enterprise in its scheme. 

95. Jimmy Gleason knowingly permitted the SFS Enterprise to use his name as a “Law 

Firm Contact” on contracts with consumers when he was not associated with a bona fide law firm. 

5. Jason Blust, Guillermo Geisse, and Timothy Burnette 

(in addition to those listed above for Facade Firm Defendants) 

96. Blust, Geisse, and Burnette knowingly created and maintained the Facade Firm 

portfolio or “programs,” including the shell entity Wyolaw, for the specific purpose of assisting 

the SFS Defendants in the SFS Enterprise’s fraudulent scheme of inducing consumers, including 

the Plaintiff, into the payment of fees to an entity they believed was a bona fide law firm. 

6. Brant Hodyno and Sarah Flores 

(in addition to those listed above for Facade Firm Defendants) 

97. By posing as bona fide members or attorneys of a majority of the approximately 

thirty Facade Firms, including the Facade Entity, Hodyno and Flores engaged in, and assisted the 

SFS Enterprise with their subterfuge to conceal that the Facade Entity is not a bona fide law firm, 

that no properly licensed attorneys were actually providing legal services, and that SFS 

Defendants’ staff were practicing law without a license. 

98. Misrepresenting that their relationship to Wyolaw is a bona fide membership rather 

than a referral relationship. 



 

29 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

6586 HYPOLUXO ROAD, SUITE 350, LAKE WORTH, FL 33467 • TELEPHONE (561) 729-0530 

99. Knowingly permitting the misrepresentations of the SFS Defendants and Facade 

Firm Defendants listed above to their clients, including the Plaintiff, in contravention of their 

professional responsibilities. 

100. Failing to advise consumers, including the Plaintiff, that they could get the same 

services cheaper through a different Facade Firm. 

7. The Notary Services Defendant 

101. Sunshine markets “Debt Consolidation Services” “to sign off on your face to face 

agreement[, n]ot just to comply with state or local laws, but to protect the company and the validity 

of the agreement.” 

102. The Notary Services Defendant Sunshine knowingly contracts with the SFS 

Defendants in the guise of the Facade Firms for the express purpose of providing mobile notaries 

to pose as representatives of a law firm for a face-to-face meeting. 

103. The Notary Services Defendant knows that the Federal Trade Commission 

disapproves of this use of their network of mobile notaries for a purported face-to-face meeting 

under the TSR. 

104. The Notary Services Defendant knowingly provides its  contracted notaries with 

documentation to complete (such as the Affidavit of Compliance) that: 1) fraudulently represent 

that the notary is a representative of a law firm; and 2) fraudulently claim that the notary has, and 

is capable of, determining compliance with the TSR. 

105. The Notary Services Defendant knowingly provides its contracted notaries with, 

and instruct them not to deviate, from scripts and presentations that provide legal advice and that 

omit important terms of the contract, such as the arbitration clause and class actions waiver. 
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106. The Notary Services Defendant knowingly assigns its contracted notaries to jobs 

that contain an inherent conflict, insofar as the notary must sign the contract as a representative of 

one of the parties to the contract while also attesting to the consumers’ signatures as an 

independent, disinterested quasi-governmental official. 

107. The Notary Services Defendant guides the notaries through the entire signing 

process, providing instructions for what to do and say at the signing, requiring the notary to call if 

there are any problems or questions and relaying such calls to the SFS Defendants. 

108. The Notary Services Defendant is responsible for the misrepresentations and breach 

of fiduciary duties of its agent, the Notary Defendant. 

8. The Notary Defendant 

109. The Notary Defendant executed an Affidavit of Compliance, falsely representing 

that: 1) she was a representative of Wyolaw; 2) she determined there was full compliance with 

applicable laws, including but not limited to the TSR; and 3) she reviewed certain subjects with 

respect to a purported legal services contract with the Plaintiff. 

110. The Notary Defendant knowingly notarized the Plaintiff’s acknowledgment of the 

Power of Attorney which gives the purported law firm (of which the notaries claim to be 

representatives) the authority to act as…an attorney-at-law [sic].   

111. The Notary Defendant knowingly took an acknowledgment in one section of the 

contract to the “law firm” while signing as a representative of the “law firm” in another which 

section contravenes notarial standards. 

112. The Notary Defendant knowingly failed to refuse to notarize documents if “the 

notary knows or has a reasonable belief that the notarial act or the associated transaction is 

unlawful.” 
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G. Damages  

113. As a result of the wrongful acts and misrepresentations detailed above, the Plaintiff 

suffered damages because of the fraudulent and deceptive practices of the SFS Enterprise, 

including, but not limited to: 

 paying fees in excess of legal limits and otherwise in violation of applicable 

state and federal law for their debt settlement program;  

 making monthly payments that were consumed by the impermissible advance 

fees during the first several months of the program and were substantially 

consumed by such fees throughout the remainder of their participation in the 

program; 

 being subjected to lawsuits and judgments from creditors which Plaintiff 

enrolled in the program and stopped paying at the direction of the SFS 

Enterprise;  

 incurring in the past and in the future, substantial legal fees in the defense or 

settlement of lawsuits by creditors brought about by her enrollment in the SFS 

Enterprise’s debt settlement programs; 

 paying fees for services that were never performed and were never intended to 

be performed and were unable to get refunds for those fees; 

 suffering continuing harm to her credit and creditworthiness making it difficult 

or impossible to obtain loans or to find reasonable interest rates; 

 incurring in the past and in the future additional interest, late fees and other 

penalties resulting from the nonpayment of creditors at the SFS Enterprise’s 

direction; and 
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 as a result of the litigation with creditors, and creditworthiness damage, 

suffering  extreme emotional distress, physical stress and anxiety. 

H. Conspiracy, RICO, and Criminal Practices Allegations 

Criminal Conduct and Statutory Violations underlying RICO and Criminal 

Practices claims - Federal 

 Interstate transportation of stolen property (18 U.S.C. § 2314);  

 Mail fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341); 

 Wire fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343); 

 Bank fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1344); 

Criminal Conduct and Statutory Violations underlying RICO and Criminal 

Practices claims - State 

118. Theft (§812.014, Fla. Stat.); 

119. Violation of Florida Communications Fraud Act (§817.034); 

120. Fraudulent marketing practices (§817.0345); 

121. Fraudulent issue of indicia of membership interest in an LLC (§817.19); 

122. Falsifying records (§839.13, Fla. Stat.); 

123. False, misleading and deceptive advertising and sales (§§817.40, 817.41, 817.44 

Fla. Stat.); 

124. Deceptive business practices (§501.201 et seq., Fla. Stat.); 

125. Violation of the Credit Counseling Services Statute (817.801 et seq., Fla. Stat.); 

126. Knowingly engaging in the unauthorized practice of law (§ 454.23, Fla. Stat.); and 

127. Conspiracy to commit the above crimes (§777.04, Fla. Stat.). 
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The Rico Enterprise and Scheme 

 At all relevant times Defendants were members and associates of a fraudulent debt 

settlement enterprise, whose members and associates engaged in fraudulent and deceptive 

practices designed to enroll consumers in useless “debt settlement” plans and extract unearned fees 

from them (“SFS Scheme”). 

 The activities of the SFS Enterprise affected and continues to affect interstate 

commerce. 

 In order to increase their revenue and profits, members of the SFS Enterprise need 

to enroll a continuous stream of customers into their debt relief programs. The SFS Enterprise 

provides that stream by fraudulently inducing consumers to enter into purported legal services 

contracts through which members of the SFS Enterprise extracted illegal fees directly from 

consumers’ bank accounts.  

 The members of the SFS Enterprise share the common purpose of achieving the 

enterprise’s objectives, namely the enrichment of the Defendants through luring consumers into 

useless debt settlement plans and extracting unearned fees from them. Each of the members of the 

SFS Enterprise was rewarded financially based on its abilities to perform its role as a member of 

the SFS Enterprise. 

Conduct of the RICO enterprise’s affairs 

 The SFS Enterprise members have conducted or participated in the conduct of the 

affairs of the SFS Enterprise, directly or indirectly, by making false statements and promises in an 

attempt to encourage consumers to sign up for debt settlement programs through the SFS 

Enterprise, and by extracting and processing payments knowing that the underlying contracts 
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provided for illegal fees and that consumers had signed those contracts based on the fraudulent 

and deceptive activities of the Enterprise’s Facade Firms. 

SFS Enterprise’s pattern of racketeering activity 

 Defendants conducted and participated in the affairs of the above-referenced SFS 

Enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, including acts that are indictable under the 

above-mentioned statutes. 

 The pattern of racketeering likely involved thousands of separate instances of use 

of the U.S. mail or interstate wire facilities in furtherance of the SFS Scheme, as well as many 

instances involving the interstate transmission of potentially millions of dollars in fraudulently 

obtained fees, which were withdrawn from accounts under the custody and control of financial 

institutions.  

 Each of these instances constituted a “racketeering activity” and collectively, these 

violations constituted a “pattern of racketeering activity,” in which the SFS Enterprise intended to 

defraud consumers, including the Plaintiff. 

 The Defendants’ racketeering activities amounted to a common course of conduct, 

with similar pattern and purpose, intended to defraud consumers. Each separate instance of 

racketeering employed by the SFS Enterprise was related, had similar intended purposes, involved 

similar participants and methods of execution, and had the same injurious results affecting the 

same victims, including Plaintiff.  

 The Defendants engaged in the pattern of racketeering activity for the purpose of 

conducting the ongoing business affairs of the SFS Enterprise.  The object of this conspiracy was 

to conduct or participate in, directly or indirectly, the conduct of the affairs described previously 

through a pattern of racketeering activity. 
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 Each of the SFS Enterprise members conspired with the others in order to further 

and perfect the financial goals of the SFS Enterprise.  

 The SFS Scheme was constructed with overt written and oral agreements between 

the SFS Enterprise members to further the goals of the SFS Enterprise and to engage in the pattern 

of racketeering activity alleged herein. The nature of the acts, material misrepresentations, and 

omissions in furtherance of the conspiracy gives rise to an inference that SFS Enterprise members 

not only agreed to an illegal objective, but they were aware that their ongoing fraudulent acts were 

part of an overall pattern of racketeering activity. 

 As a direct and proximate result of the SFS Enterprise members’ overt acts and 

predicate acts by conspiring to violate the law, Plaintiff and consumers have been, and continue to 

be, injured in their business or property. 

 The members of the SFS Enterprise have engaged in the commission of, and 

continue to commit, overt acts, including the unlawful racketeering predicate acts mentioned 

above. 

The SFS Enterprise’s use of the U.S. mail and interstate wire facilities in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 & 1343 

 The illegal conduct and wrongful practices of the SFS Enterprise were carried out 

by an array of agents and members of the SFS Enterprise, working across state boundaries, who 

necessarily relied upon frequent transfers of documents, information, products, and funds by the 

U.S. mail and interstate wire facilities.  

 The nature and pervasiveness of the SFS Scheme, which was orchestrated primarily 

out of the offices of the SFS Defendants and the Facade Firm Defendants, necessarily required 
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those offices to communicate directly and frequently with each other and with consumers by the 

U.S. mail and by interstate wire facilities.  

 Indeed, SFS Enterprise’s business model and the ensnarement of consumers in the 

SFS Scheme were predicated upon, and rely on, use of the interstate wire and postal facilities.  

 SFS Defendant’s initial verbal contact with consumers was through interstate 

telephone calls and/or interstate mail. 

 The SFS Enterprise members transmitted the legal services agreements to mobile 

notaries across state lines and over the Internet.  

 The SFS Enterprise also transmitted the legal services agreements, including 

portions thereof directly to consumers over the Internet for them to sign or print on their home 

computers or sometimes sent them directly to consumers through the U.S. mail system.  The SFS 

Enterprise sent the Welcome Packet directly to consumers though the U.S. mail system. 

The SFS Enterprise’s interstate transportation of stolen property in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2314 

 The SFS Enterprise developed the SFS Scheme, described in the above paragraphs 

of this Complaint, to obtain money from consumers by fraudulent means. 

 In furtherance of this SFS Scheme, SFS transmitted consumers’ monthly payments 

and fees, in amounts exceeding $5,000, in interstate commerce. SFS did so despite knowing that 

the authorization for those payments and fees were obtained by fraud. 

The SFS Enterprise’s commission of bank fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1344 

 The SFS Enterprise knowingly executed the SFS Scheme to obtain money, by 

means of fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, from consumers’ bank accounts, 

which were under the custody and control of federally chartered or insured financial institutions. 
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 Specifically, as described above, the SFS Enterprise obtained by fraudulent means 

the authorization of the Plaintiff to withdraw money from her bank account under the custody and 

control of federally chartered and insured financial institutions.  

 On information and belief, the same process involving fraud in obtaining 

authorization to withdraw money from consumers’ federally chartered or insured bank accounts 

was repeated in a continuing and ongoing pattern with the ensnarement of each additional 

consumer victim. 

 The SFS Enterprise also violated 18 U.S.C. § 1344 by fraudulently obtaining 

authorization to withdraw money from the Plaintiff’s dedicated account and held in an FDIC 

insured financial institution. 

Other predicate acts 

154. As alleged above, the SFS Enterprise has victimized other consumers in the same 

way as they victimized the Plaintiff.  Other such consumers include, but are not limited to: 

a) Sheila Walters who, on October 5, 2018, was also induced to enroll in the SFS 

Enterprise debt settlement scheme by a Financial Consultant employed by the 

SFS Defendants and a notary posing as Wyolaw representative. 

b) Sharyn Pinkos who, on December 7, 2017, was also induced to enroll in the 

SFS Enterprise debt settlement scheme by a Financial Consultant employed by 

the SFS Defendants and a notary sent by Sunshine to pose as a representative 

of another Facade Firm, Anchor, created and maintained by the same SFS 

Enterprise. 

c) David Crook, who on December 27, 2017, was also induced to enroll in the 

SFS Enterprise debt settlement scheme by a Financial Consultant employed by 
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the SFS Defendants and a notary sent by Sunshine to pose as a representative 

of another Facade Firm, Anchor, created and maintained by the same SFS 

Enterprise. 

Damages caused by the SFS Schemes 

 SFS Enterprise’s violations of federal and state law and its pattern of racketeering 

activity have directly and proximately caused Plaintiff to be injured as alleged above in the 

Damages section.  

Section 1962(d) allegations 

156. Section 1962(d) of RICO provides that it “shall be unlawful for any person to 

conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (c) of this section.” 

157. The SFS Enterprise members violated § 1962(d) by conspiring to violate 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(c). The object of this conspiracy was to conduct or participate in, directly or indirectly, the 

conduct of the affairs described previously through a pattern of racketeering activity. 

158. Each of the SFS Enterprise members conspired with the others in order to further 

and perfect the financial goals of the SFS Enterprise.  

159. The SFS Scheme was constructed with overt written and oral agreements between 

the SFS Enterprise members to further the goals of the SFS Enterprise and to engage in the pattern 

of racketeering activity alleged herein. The nature of the acts, material misrepresentations, and 

omissions in furtherance of the conspiracy gives rise to an inference that SFS and its affiliates not 

only agreed to the objective of an 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) violation of RICO by conspiring to violate 

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), but they were aware that their ongoing fraudulent acts were part of an overall 

pattern of racketeering activity. 
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160. As a direct and proximate result of the SFS Enterprise members’ overt acts and 

predicate acts in furtherance of violating 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) by conspiring to violate 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962(c), Plaintiff and other consumers have been, and continue to be, injured in their business 

or property. 

 

COUNT I: FRAUD, DECEIT AND INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION 

(All Defendants) 

161. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

162. One who fraudulently makes a misrepresentation for the purpose of inducing 

another to act or to refrain from action in reliance upon it, is subject to liability to the other in 

deceit for pecuniary loss caused to her by her justifiable reliance upon the misrepresentation. The 

tort of intentional misrepresentation or fraud is proven by showing the four elements of fraudulent 

misrepresentation: 1) a false statement concerning a material fact; 2) the representor’s knowledge 

that the representation is false; 3) an intention that the representation induce another to act on it; 

and 4) consequent injury by the party acting in reliance on the representation. Butler v. Yusem, 44 

So. 3d 102, 105 (Fla. 2010). 

163. Defendants, personally or by and through their agents, knowingly made false 

misrepresentations to the Plaintiff designed to make the Plaintiff believe that she was contracting 

with a bona fide law firm. 

164. These misrepresentations by all Defendants were made intentionally for the 

purpose of inducing the Plaintiff to act or to refrain from action in reliance upon it.   

165. The Plaintiff did act in reliance upon the misrepresentations by sending the 

Defendants money and refraining from action by discontinuing payments to their creditors. 
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166. The Plaintiff suffered financial and other harm as a result. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the recovery of compensatory damages from the 

Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the court.  

 

COUNT II: CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FRAUD 

(All Defendants) 

167. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

168. A civil conspiracy is compensable as a separate tort where there is: (a) a conspiracy 

between two or more parties, (b) to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means, 

(c) the doing of some overt act in pursuance of the conspiracy, and (d) damage to plaintiff as a 

result of the acts done under the conspiracy. Such a tort is actionable “where a plaintiff can show 

some peculiar power of coercion possessed by the conspirators by virtue of their combination, 

which power an individual could not possess.” Fla. Fern Growers Ass’n, Inc. v. Concerned 

Citizens of Putnam Cty., 616 So. 2d 562, 565 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). 

169. The Defendants conspired to the fraud detailed in COUNT I by agreeing to the 

Facade Firm scheme, by taking the overt acts of fraudulently inducing the Plaintiff to pay for 

illusory, useless or inadequate services.  

170. The Plaintiff suffered damages as a proximate cause of the jointly committed 

fraudulent acts. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the recovery of compensatory damages from the 

Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the court. 
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COUNT III: CIVIL RIGHT OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE RACKETEER 

INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT (“RICO”) 

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and (d) 

(All Defendants) 

171. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

172. As alleged above in the Conspiracy and RICO allegations section, at all relevant 

times Defendants were members and associates of a fraudulent debt settlement enterprise, whose 

members and associates engaged, by overt agreement, in an ongoing and continuing pattern of 

racketeering activity consisting of fraudulent and deceptive practices designed to enroll consumers 

in useless “debt settlement” plans and extract unearned fees from them in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 2314; 1341,1343, and 1344 and other federal and state laws. 

173. The Defendants conspired to commit the pattern of racketeering activity. 

174. The SFS Enterprise caused damages to the Plaintiffs as alleged above in the 

Damages section.  

175. This count is brought under 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) which provides that any person 

injured by violation of §1962 may sue and shall recover threefold the damages he sustains and the 

cost of the suit, including a reasonable attorney’s fee.  

176. State courts have concurrent jurisdiction over RICO claims. Tafflin v. Levitt, 493 

U.S. 455 (1990). 

 WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the recovery of compensatory damages, plus treble 

damages and attorneys’ fees, from Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the 

court. 
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COUNT IV: CIVIL REMEDY FOR CRIMINAL PRACTICES STATUTE 

(§ 772.104, Fla. Stat.). 

(All Defendants) 

177. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

178. The Defendants have, with criminal intent, committed two or more federal or state 

criminal offenses within a five-year period for which there is a relationship and continuity between 

those predicate acts. 

179. As a person injured by reason of any violation of §772.103, Fla. Stat., the Plaintiff 

is entitled to treble damages, attorney’s fees and costs.  772.104, Fla. Stat. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the entry of judgment in favor of the Plaintiff for 

compensatory damages, plus treble damages and attorneys’ fees and costs, from the Defendants 

and all such other relief as may be granted by the court. 

 

COUNT V: EXPRESS PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF 

FLORIDA’S DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT (FDUTPA)  

(All Defendants) 

180. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

181. FDUTPA is intended to “protect the consuming public and legitimate business 

enterprises from those who engage in unfair methods of competition, or unconscionable, deceptive, 

or unfair acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.” § 501.202(2). See also 

Delgado v. J.W. Courtesy Pontiac GMC-Truck, Inc., 693 So. 2d 602, 605-06 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) 

A deceptive practice is one that is “likely to mislead” consumers. Davis v. Powertel, Inc., 776 So. 

2d 971, 974 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). An unfair practice is “one that ‘offends established public policy’ 
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and one that is ‘immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially injurious to 

consumers.’” Samuels v. King Motor Co. of Boca Raton, 782 So. 2d 489, 499 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). 

182. The Defendants violated FDUTPA as a result of the wrongful acts alleged above. 

183. Additionally, the Defendants violated FDUTPA by violating the Credit Counseling 

Services statute (see COUNT VI and § 817.806(1)—any violation of Credit Counseling Services 

statute is also a violation of FDUTPA). 

184. The actions of the Defendants were a willful and knowing violation of the 

FDUTPA. 

185. Private Right of Action: In any action brought by a person who has suffered a loss 

as a result of a violation of FDUTPA, such person may recover actual damages, plus attorney’s 

fees and court costs. §§ 501.211, 501.2105, Fla. Stat. 

186. The Plaintiff suffered actual damages and incurred attorneys’ fees and costs. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the entry of judgment in favor of the Plaintiff for 

compensatory damages, plus attorneys’ fees and costs, from the Defendants and all such other 

relief as may be granted by the court. 

 

COUNT VI: EXPRESS PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR 

VIOLATION OF CREDIT COUNSELING SERVICES STATUTE 

(SFS Defendants, Facade Firm Defendants) 

187. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

188. Chapter 817, Part IV (“Credit Counseling Services”) applies to the Defendants 

because it applies to: 

(4) “Debt management services” means services provided to a debtor by a credit 

counseling organization for a fee to: 
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(a) Effect the adjustment, compromise, or discharge of any unsecured account, 

note, or other indebtedness of the debtor; or 

(b) Receive from the debtor and disburse to a creditor any money or other thing 

of value. 

189. The exception for “services provided in the practice of law in this state” 

(§817.803(1)) is inapplicable to the non-Florida-licensed attorneys because they do not praice law 

in this state.   

190. The exception is also inapplicable to the Florida-licensed attorneys because the debt 

relief services are actually performed by third party companies. See, Assurance of Voluntary 

Compliance, In the Matter of The Johnson Law Group, PLLC and Clint L. Johnson, AG Case 

Number, L10-3-1148. 

191. The Defendants, individually and as an enterprise, violated one or more provisions 

of the Credit Counseling Services statute, including, but not limited to, the charging of fees in 

excess of the statutory limits and the failure to obtain the required annual audits and insurance 

policies. 

192. The statute provides a private right of action for the recovery of damages, 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs. § 817.806, Fla. Stat. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the entry of judgment in favor of the Plaintiff for 

compensatory damages from the Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the 

court. 
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COUNT VII: PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR UNLICENSED 

PRACTICE OF LAW 

(All Defendants except Hodyno and Flores) 

193. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

194. The unlicensed practice of law is a felony in Florida (§ 454.23, Fla. Stat.).   

195. Plaintiff have standing to seek restitution of any damages by way of a civil action 

for damages caused by the unlicensed practice of law. Goldberg v. Merrill Lynch Credit Corp., 35 

So. 3d 905, 907 (Fla. 2010). 

196. It constitutes the unlicensed practice of law for a nonlawyer to hold himself out as 

an attorney either expressly or impliedly. The Fla. Bar v. DeToma, 501 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1987) 

(using the title Esquire); The Florida Bar v. Catarcio, 709 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1998) (using the initials 

J.D. if they are being used to solicit legal services); The Florida Bar v. Miravalle, 761 So. 2d 1049 

(Fla. 2000) (using “legal” in the name of your business); The Florida Bar v. Gordon, 661 So. 2d 

295 (Fla. 1995) (using the title “attorney” or “lawyer”); and The Florida Bar v. Borges-Caignet, 

321 So. 2d 550 (Fla. 1975) (using the title notario publico).  

197. It also constitutes the unlicensed practice of law for a corporation to advertise to 

provide legal services even if the services are being performed by a member of The Florida Bar. 

The Florida Bar v. Consolidated Business and Legal Forms, 386 So. 2d 797 (Fla. 1980). This is 

due to the fact that a corporation may not practice law. 

198. Rule 10-2.1(c) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar defines “nonlawyer” as 

including members of the bars of other states. 

199. The Defendants engaged in the unlicensed practice of law by holding themselves 

out as an attorney either expressly or impliedly, by advertising (via websites, welcome packets, 
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etc.) —and signing contracts—to provide legal services, even if the services are being performed 

by a member of The Florida Bar.   

200. The Defendants also engaged in the unlicensed practice of law by: 

 giving legal advice to Florida citizens about:  

i. whether bankruptcy or debt settlement is the best solution to their 

particular financial situation;  

ii. which debts they should enroll in the debt settlement program; 

iii. entering into the contract with Global Client Solutions, LLC (“GCS”), 

including but not limited to the consequences of: 1) agreeing to the waiver 

of rights embedded in the contract; 2) options and fees for using GCS’s 

dedicated account rather than an attorney’s trust account; 

iv. signing the power of attorney; 

v. the consequences of waiving attorney-client privilege and confidential 

information; and 

vi. the consequences of blanket authorization for settlement; 

 instructing Florida citizens not to pay their debts and advising them on the 

consequences thereof; 

 instructing Florida citizens how to respond to creditors when they call; and 

 making decisions about whether a case filed by a creditor against Florida 

citizens is defensible; 

 “educating the client on the legal and negotiation process…. This includes 

providing initial lit[igation] strategy [phone] call upon receipt of summons and 

complaint…” 
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201. The Defendants held, and continue to hold, themselves out as licensed attorneys 

capable of representing Florida residents like the Plaintiff, both in debt settlement negotiation and 

litigation. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the recovery of compensatory damages from the 

Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the court. 

 

COUNT VIII: LEGAL MALPRACTICE IN TORT 

(Wyolaw, Montanile, Blust, Geisse, Burnette, Hodyno, Flores) 

202. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

203. A legal malpractice action has three elements: 1) the employment of the attorney 

(or the existence of an attorney-client relationship); 2) the attorney’s neglect of a reasonable duty; 

and 3) the attorney’s negligence as the proximate cause of loss to the client. Larson & Larson, 

P.A. v. TSE Indus., Inc., 22 So. 3d 36, 50 (Fla. 2009); Mansur v. Podhurst Orseck, P.A., 994 So. 

2d 435, 438 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). 

204. Florida views legal malpractice as personal tort claims. Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle 

Agency, Inc., 701 So. 2d 557, 559 (Fla. 1997) (receded from on other grounds in, Cowan Liebowitz 

& Latman, P.C. v. Kaplan, 902 So. 2d 755 (Fla. 2005); see also, Ivey v. Padgett, 502 So. 2d 22, 

23 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). 

205. Establishment of the attorney-client relationship—and thus the attachment of the 

concomitant rights and duties of each side to the relationship—does not require a written 

agreement or evidence that fees have been paid or agreed upon.  The Florida Supreme Court has 

said that the test for an attorney-client relationship is a subjective one and hinges upon the client's 
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belief that he is consulting a lawyer in that capacity and his manifested intention is to seek 

professional legal advice. Mansur, at 438. 

206. As a result of their wrongful acts and misrepresentations, an attorney-client 

relationship existed between Plaintiffs and the COUNT VIII Defendants who provided inadequate 

or incomplete legal advice and supervision which was a substantial factor in bringing about the 

harm that occurred and that some harm to the Plaintiffs was foreseeable from the COUNT VIII 

Defendants’ negligence.  

207. Inadequate supervision includes, but is not limited to: 1) supervision of 

misrepresentations of lead generators designed to induce the Plaintiffs into thinking they paying a 

bona fide law firm; 2) supervision of representations made at, or with respect to, the face-to-face 

meeting with a mobile notary; 3) supervision of decisions regarding the defense of creditor 

lawsuits; 4) supervision of advertising, marketing and promotional materials that mislead 

consumers, including the Plaintiffs; and 5) supervision of non-litigation settlements. 

208. The COUNT VIII Defendants also breached their duty by committing the wrongful 

acts listed in the section entitled “The wrongful acts and misrepresentations of the Defendants.” 

209. The breach of these duties was the proximate causes of the Plaintiff’s damages 

described above. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the entry of judgment in favor of the Plaintiff for 

compensatory damages from the Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the 

court. 
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COUNT IX: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 

(All Defendants) 

210. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

211. The elements of a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty are: 1) the existence 

of a duty; 2) breach of that duty; and 3) damages flowing from the breach. Cassedy v. Alland 

Investments Corp., 128 So. 3d 976, 978 (Fla. 5th DCA 2014).   

212. A fiduciary relationship may be implied in law based on the “specific factual 

situation surrounding the transaction and the relationship of the parties.” Crusselle v. Mong, 59 

So. 3d 1178, 1181 (Fla. 5th DCA 2011).  Courts have found a fiduciary relationship implied in 

law when confidence is reposed by one party and a trust accepted by the other. Capital Bank v. 

MVB, Inc., 644 So. 2d 515, 518 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). A fiduciary owes to its beneficiary the duty 

to refrain from self-dealing, the duty of loyalty, the overall duty to not take unfair advantage and 

to act in the best interest of the other party, and the duty to disclose material facts. Id at 520. 

213. The Defendants held themselves out as licensed attorneys’ capable of representing 

residents of the Plaintiff’s state, or assisted others in doing so, both in debt settlement negotiation 

and litigation, as well as in the initial “consultation” regarding the program. 

214. In addition to the above, the Notary Services Defendant and the Notary Defendant, 

occupying a position of public trust, had a fiduciary duty to their constituencies, the people they 

represent and serve such as the Plaintiff, including a duty of impartiality to the Plaintiff.  

215. The COUNT IX Defendants induced the Plaintiff to entrust them with her money 

and her financial future. 

216. The COUNT IX Defendants had a duty of diligence and undivided loyalty to the 

Plaintiff implied by the relationships surrounding the transaction. 
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217. The COUNT IX Defendants breached the above-mentioned fiduciary duties to the 

Plaintiff. 

218. The COUNT IX Defendants’ breach of their fiduciary duties was deliberate or 

wanton and willful.  

219. The Plaintiff has suffered monetary damages and emotional distress as a result of 

the Defendants’ breach of fiduciary duty. 

220. The COUNT IX Defendants are liable to the Plaintiff for all damages caused by 

their conduct for their wanton and willful conduct. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff demands the recovery of compensatory damages from the 

Defendants and all such other relief as may be granted by the court. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

221. The Plaintiff demands a trial by jury of all claims so triable by right. 

 

Dated: March 9, 2020 
Ice Legal, P.A. 

Attorney for Plaintiff 
6586 Hypoluxo Road, Suite 350 
Lake Worth, FL 33467 
(561) 729-0530 
Designated emails: 
 service@icelegal.com 
 service1@icelegal.com 
 service2@icelegal.com 

 

 
THOMAS ERSKINE ICE 

 FL Bar No. 521655 

By:_______________________
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